# FILED Jun 29, 2016 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

#### No. 34035-0-III

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

### Carrie Aenk,

Appellant.

Spokane County Superior Court Cause No. 15-1-00347-1
The Honorable Judge James Triplet

## **Appellant's Opening Brief**

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

#### **BACKLUND & MISTRY**

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

####

#### **ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- 1. The court violated Ms. Aenk's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to present a defense by prohibiting her from introducing critical evidence.
- 2. The court violated Ms. Aenk's right to present a defense under Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3 and 22 by prohibiting her from introducing critical evidence.
- 3. The court violated Ms. Aenk's right to present a defense by precluding her from presenting testimony that the Hatfields told her to use the check as the second payment for the adoption of horses Quinn and Baron.
  - **ISSUE 1:** An accused person has a constitutional right to present relevant, admissible evidence necessary to the defense. Did the court violate Ms. Aenk's right to present a defense by precluding her from introducing evidence that the Hatfields told her to use the check for their second payment for the adoption of Quinn and Baron?
- 4. Ms. Aenk's conviction for third-degree theft violated her Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because it was based on insufficient evidence.
- 5. The state failed to prove that Ms. Aenk obtained money from the Hatfields by color or aid of deception.
  - **ISSUE 2:** Conviction for third-degree theft requires proof that the accused person obtained control over property by color or aid of deception. Did the state fail to prove that Ms. Aenk obtained the adoption fee for Duke by color or aid of deception?
- 6. The Court of Appeals should decline to impose appellate costs, should Respondent substantially prevail and request such costs.
  - **ISSUE 3:** If the state substantially prevails on appeal and makes a proper request for costs, should the Court of Appeals decline to impose appellate costs because Ms. Aenk is indigent, as noted in the Order of Indigency?

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Carrie and Allan Aenk loved animals, and ran a horse and dog rescue. RP<sup>1</sup> 341, 342. They took in abandoned and neglected animals and brought them back to health. RP 341-343. Since 2003, the couple operated a charity "Shephard's Way", which rehabilitated and then adopted out some of the rescued animals. RP 343, 413, 485.

They used an adoption contract that contained provisions requiring approval of the location the animals were to be kept and setting out that the fee was for adoption and expenses and was not refundable. Ex. 6, 7, 8; RP 347, 349, 421-423. Rehabilitating horses and dogs was an expensive and work-intensive project, and the fees were made nonrefundable to allow the continued work of the charity. RP 349-350.

In the summer of 2013, Elle Hatfield wanted horses. RP 128. Her family had recently bought property and wished to keep horses there, though the property was not fenced, had no power or water and was in several other ways not horse-ready. She contacted Shepard's Way and asked about horses. RP 128-129, 220, 344, 436.

One of the horses at the rescue was named Duke. The horse was older but Mrs. Hatfield wanted him for her grown daughter. RP 129-132,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations in this brief are to the trial transcripts which are consecutively numbered and start on October 12, 2015.

436-438. Mrs. Hatfield agreed with Mrs. Aenk on an adoption fee of \$500 for Duke. RP 346, 439. When she was at the Aenk property to introduce her daughter to the horse, she saw two other horses and expressed interest in adopting them. These horses were named Baron and Quinn. RP 129, 137-138.

Mrs. Hatfield and Mrs. Aenk negotiated over the adoption fee for Quinn and Barren. RP 138-143, 223, 351-352. They agreed on \$5000, though the Hatfields would later hotly dispute this. RP 141, 173-174, 223, 352. Mrs. Hatfield wrote a check to Mrs. Aenk for \$2500, and they agreed that the other half owed would be paid when the horses were delivered. RP 353.

Elle Hatfield had described a pasture next to her home for the horses. RP 347, 444. She and Mrs. Aenk signed an adoption contract for Duke and Elle Hatfield gave Mrs. Aenk a check for \$500. RP 132, 134-135. The parties had not set a delivery date.<sup>2</sup> RP 349. Mrs. Aenk cashed the check. RP 100-101.

Carrie Aenk and later also her husband went to the property where the horses were to be kept. RP 153, 354. It was not as they expected, as it had no fence, no water or power source, and no shelter for the animals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Hatfields would later claim that they made an agreement with the Aenks that the check for Duke would not be cashed until the horse was delivered. The Aenks contested this. RP 349.

The Hatfields did not reside there. It was instead on top of a mountain which could get several feet of snow in the winter, up a switch-backed gravel road, and contained ditches and other hazards for horses. RP 354-356, 360-361, 444, 449-450.

Allan Aenk saw the beginnings of a fence system that would be totally inadequate for horses and he tried to help the Hatfields find and install a proper fence. RP 156, 229, 357, 404, 449. Mr. Aenk went the property and tried to assist several times. RP 228, 358-359, 399-400, 407-408.

The parties signed contracts for the adoption of Baron and Quinn, and Mrs. Hatfield gave Mrs. Aenk a check. Ex. 7, 8. Mrs. Aenk took the check for \$2500 to the bank on which it was drawn, but their computers were down and they did not cash it. RP 367, 415, 454. Mr. Aenk called the Hatfields and asked them for cash instead. RP 368. The Hatfields agreed and gave Mrs. Aenk \$2500 in cash. RP 99, 154-155, 230-231, 369, 455. Mrs. Aenk tried to return the check to them, but Dustin Hatfield told her to keep it as their second payment.<sup>3</sup> RP 458.

Many of the suggestions made by the Aenks to make the property suitable for horses were not completed. RP 362, 457. Even after Mr. Aenk and his ranch hand helped a few days, the fence was still not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Dustin and Elle Hatfield would later deny this. RP 154-155, 547.

completed.<sup>4</sup> RP 394, 397. There was still no water supply. RP 394. The Aenks declined to deliver the horses at the time previously agreed. RP 393-396, 498. The relationship between the Hatfields and the Aenks deteriorated. RP 158, 161-162, 179-180, 235

Mrs. Aenk took the \$2500 check to a check-cashing shop where she could easily check to see if it would be honored. RP 408-411, 430, 459. She provided Mr. Hatfield's number to the clerk, who called him. RP 412, 461-462. Mr. Hatfield told the clerk that the check should not be cashed, and then called his bank and put a stop payment order on the check. RP 237.

Even after this, the parties continued to communicate to try to agree on a time and place for the delivery of the horses. RP 477, 507-508. In the end, the horses were not adopted by the Hatfields. RP 516.

The state charged Mrs. Aenk with attempted theft two for attempting to cash the check for \$2500 at the check-cashing shop, and with theft three for the \$500 check that Mrs. Aenk cashed for the adoption of Duke. CP 1-2.

The trial centered on the dispute between the Aenks and the Hatfields about what the written contract meant, and what other agreements were made between them. Both Elle and Dustin Hatfield

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In fact, some of the fence was torn down. RP 429.

acknowledged that the contract clearly indicated that the adoption fee was non-refundable. RP 167-169, 176-177, 182, 226, 242, 257.

During Allan Aenk's testimony, the defense asked him about discussions the Aenks had with the Hatfields about when the horses would be delivered. RP 374-375. The state's hearsay objection was sustained. RP 374-392. Mrs. Aenk's defense attorney argued that the information was not hearsay since it was part of an oral agreement between the parties. RP 375-392. The defense attorney further declined the state's suggestion that it could argued that it was impeachment of the Hatfields with a prior inconsistent statement. RP 384-392.

The jury convicted Mrs. Aenk. CP 96-97.

The piece of evidence that the jury never heard was both Aenks's testimony that Dustin Hatfield had told them to keep the check for \$2500 as the second payment. The defense moved for a new trial after the guilty verdicts, but the court denied it. RP 605-626; CP 98-101.

Carrie Aenk timely appealed. CP 197.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE COURT VIOLATED Ms. AENK'S RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE BY PROHIBITING HER FROM INTRODUCING CRITICAL EVIDENCE.

An accused person has a constitutional right to present a defense.

U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV; art. I, §§3, 22; *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d

713, 720, 230 P.3d 576 (2010); *State v. Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d 371, 378, 325 P.3d 159 (2014) (citing *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 302, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973) and *Holmes v. S. Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 126 S.Ct. 1727, 164 L.Ed.2d 503 (2006)). The right to present a defense includes the right to introduce relevant<sup>5</sup> and admissible evidence. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720. Violation of the constitutional right creates manifest error that can be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)(3).<sup>6</sup>

Once the accused has established that proffered evidence is relevant and admissible, it can only be excluded if the state proves that it is "so prejudicial as to disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process at trial." *Id.* No state interest is compelling enough to prevent evidence that is of high probative value to the defense. *Id.* 

Here, Ms. Aenk sought to introduce testimony that Dustin told her to keep the check and to use it as the second payment for the adoption of Quinn and Baron. CP 98-101. Dustin's statement explained why Ms.

Aenk did not destroy the check when Dustin gave her cash. She did not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Evidence is relevant if it has any tendency to prove a material fact. ER 401. The threshold to admit relevant evidence is low; even minimally relevant evidence is admissible. *Salas v. Hi-Tech Erectors*, 168 Wn.2d 664, 669, 230 P.3d 583 (2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Defense counsel strenuously argued for admission of the evidence at issue here. RP 375-392. However, he did not cite the constitutional right to present a defense. Even so, the error may be raised. RAP 2.5(a)(3).

offer the evidence for its truth, but rather for its effect on her. RP 375-392, 614; CP 98-101.

Because it was not offered for its truth, the testimony was not hearsay. ER 801. The trial judge should have admitted the evidence.

Without the evidence, the jury could not understand why Ms. Aenk believed she was entitled to the funds when she went to verify that the check was valid. No state interest could have been compelling enough to preclude the admission of the highly probative evidence, which was necessary for Ms. Aenk's defense. *Jones*, 168 Wn.2d at 720. Accordingly, the exclusion of the evidence violated Ms. Aenk's right to present a defense under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and art. I, §§ 3, 22.

Violation of the right to present a defense requires reversal unless the state can establish harmlessness beyond a reasonable doubt. *Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d at 382. The state cannot demonstrate that the violation here was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Franklin*, 180 Wn.2d at 382. Ms. Aenk's entire defense rested on her belief that she was entitled to the money and that she had permission to cash the check upon delivery of the horses. RP 608-617. In closing, counsel was unable to explain why she believed she had permission to retain and cash the check. RP 571-582.

The state cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt that "any reasonable jury would have reached the same result without the error." *Jones* 168 Wn.2d at 724. Ms. Aenk's convictions must be reversed. *Id.* 

# II. THE EVIDENCE WAS INSUFFICIENT TO CONVICT MS. AENK OF THIRD-DEGREE THEFT.

To obtain a conviction for third-degree theft, the state was required to prove that Ms. Aenk obtained control over property of another "by color or aid of deception," and acted with intent to deprive the owner. CP 91; *see* RCW 9A.56.020(1)(b).

There is no indication that Ms. Aenk deceived the Hatfields when she accepted payment of the non-refundable adoption fee. She has run Shepherds Way Animal Rescue for 10 years. RP 343, 413, 485. Her written contract makes clear that the fee is nonrefundable. Ex 6, 7, 8. The parties understood that the horses would not be delivered until the Hatfields' property had passed an inspection. Ex. 6, 7, 8; RP 347, 349, 421-423. Ms. Aenk and her husband went to the property more than once to conduct the inspection, and Mr. Aenk actually helped the Hatfields with their fencing. RP 228, 358-359, 394, 397, 399-400, 407-408.

Elle Hatfield canceled the contract prior to the scheduled date

Duke was to be delivered. Ex. 14, Supp. CP. Although she demanded a

full refund, she did not claim ignorance of the contract's terms. Ex. 14, Supp. CP.

Under these circumstances, the state failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Ms. Aenk wrongfully obtained property by color or aid of deception. The conviction for third-degree theft must be reversed and the charge dismissed with prejudice. *State v. Mau*, 178 Wn.2d 308, 317, 308 P.3d 629 (2013).

# III. IF THE STATE SUBSTANTIALLY PREVAILS, THE COURT OF APPEALS SHOULD DECLINE TO AWARD ANY APPELLATE COSTS REQUESTED.

At this point in the appellate process, the Court of Appeals has yet to issue a decision terminating review. Neither the state nor the appellant can be characterized as the substantially prevailing party. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals has indicated that indigent appellants must object in advance to any cost bill that might eventually be filed by the state, should it substantially prevail. *State v. Sinclair*, 192 Wn.App. 380, 385-394, 367 P.3d 612 (2016).<sup>7</sup>

Appellate costs are "indisputably" discretionary in nature. *Id.*, at 388. The concerns identified by the Supreme Court in *Blazina* apply with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Division II's commissioner has indicated that Division II will follow *Sinclair*.

equal force to this court's discretionary decisions on appellate costs. State

v. Blazina, 182 Wn.2d 827, 344 P.3d 680 (2015).

The trial court found Ms. Aenk indigent. CP 195-196. There is no

reason to believe that status will change. The *Blazina* court indicated that

courts should "seriously question" the ability of a person who meets the

GR 34 standard for indigency to pay discretionary legal financial

obligations. Id. at 839

If the state substantially prevails on this appeal, this court should

exercise its discretion to deny any appellate costs requested.

**CONCLUSION** 

For the foregoing reasons, Ms. Aenk's convictions must be

reversed. Count I must be remanded for a new trial; Count II must be

dismissed with prejudice.