I.  APPELLANT’S ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The court violated Ms. Aenk’s Sixth and Fourteenth 

Amendment right to present a defense by prohibiting her from introducing 

critical evidence.  

2. The court violated Ms. Aenk’s right to present a defense 

under Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3 and 22, by prohibiting her from introducing 

critical evidence.  

3. The court violated Ms. Aenk’s right to present a defense by 

precluding her from presenting testimony that the Hatfields told her to use 

the check as the second payment for the adoption of horses Quinn and 

Baron. 

4. Ms. Aenk’s conviction for third-degree theft violated her

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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY RULED THAT MR. AENK’S 

TESTIMONY REGARDING WHAT MR. HATFIELD TOLD 

HIM WAS INADMISSIBLE HEARSAY; ERROR, IF ANY, WAS 

HARMLESS AS THE DEFENDANT WAS FULLY ABLE TO 

PRESENT HER DEFENSE NOTWITHSTANDING THE 

COURT’S RULING EXCLUDING THAT TESTIMONY. 

1. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in determining that 

Mr. Aenk’s testimony regarding Mr. or Mrs. Hatfield’s 

statements were hearsay, and the trial court therefore properly 

excluded the testimony. 

‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while 

testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the 

matter asserted.” ER 801(c).  If a statement is not offered to prove the truth 

of the matter, but for some other purpose, it is not hearsay.  ER 801. Other 

statements may be hearsay, but fall within one of the well-established 

exceptions to the hearsay rule, and are admissible. ER 803. This Court 

reviews a trial court’s evidentiary rulings for abuse of discretion, and a trial 

court’s decision to admit or exclude evidence is entitled to great deference. 

See, e.g., State v. Pavlik, 165 Wn. App. 645, 650, 268 P.3d 986 (2011); State 

v. Williams, 137 Wn. App. 736, 743, 154 P.3d 322 (2007).  A court abuses 

its discretion when its ruling is “manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on 

untenable grounds or for untenable reasons.” State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 

79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).  The burden is on the appellant to 

prove abuse of discretion.  Williams, 137 Wn. App. at 743.    
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On appeal, the defendant claims that Mrs. Aenk “sought to introduce 

testimony that Dustin [Hatfield] told her to keep the check and to use it as 

the second payment for Quinn and Barron.” Appellant’s Br. at 6.  The 

defendant claims that this testimony was not hearsay because it was not 

offered for the truth of the matter, but rather for its effect on her. In her 

appeal, the defendant has not assigned error to the trial judge’s rulings on 

the defense’s other arguments at trial that the hearsay testimony was 

admissible as a prior inconsistent statement, ER 801(d)(1)(i), or to 

demonstrate the “state of mind” of the declarant, ER 803(3), and therefore, 

those arguments below will not be addressed herein.  

First, as the trial court noted in its ruling on the defendant’s motion 

for a new trial,25 based upon the same argument now presented on appeal, 

the pertinent hearsay testimony, objection and argument occurred during 

Mr. Aenk’s testimony, rather than during Mrs. Aenk’s testimony. RP 377-

392. If the proffered statements were made to Mr. Aenk, then they would 

be irrelevant to demonstrate the effect on the listener, because whatever 

effect the statement(s) may have had on Mr. Aenk was immaterial to 

                                                 
25  The defendant has not assigned error to the Court’s ruling on her motion for a new 

trial, which was also based on the exclusion of hearsay testimony by Mr. Aenk.  A trial 

court’s ruling on a motion for a new trial under CrR 7.5 is also reviewed by the appellate 

court for abuse of discretion.  State v. Williams, 96 Wn.2d 215, 221, 634 P.2d 868 (1981). 

Defendant’s failure to assign error to the court’s denial of her motion for a new trial could 

be viewed as an acknowledgment that the court did not abuse its discretion in declining to 

grant a new trial based on its alleged erroneous hearsay rulings.  
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Mrs. Aenk’s subsequent conduct. ER 401. If Mr. Aenk were to have 

testified that Mr. Hatfield made an oral agreement with him, and then he 

relayed that agreement to his wife, such testimony would be hearsay within 

hearsay, which is also inadmissible without separate exceptions for each 

instance of hearsay. ER 805. This issue was not raised or analyzed below.  

 The trial court did not abuse its discretion in deciding that the true 

purpose behind the defense’s desire to admit this testimony was to prove 

the truth of the matter asserted, i.e., that the Hatfields agreed to allow 

Mrs. Aenk to keep the check and use it as payment for the second horse.  In 

Washington, statements offered to prove the existence of an oral contract 

are hearsay, and are inadmissible unless an exception or exemption applies.  

See Condon Bros., Inc. v. Simpson Timber Co., 92 Wn. App. 275, 284, 

966 P.2d 355 (1995) (Trial court exclusion of oral contract hearsay 

testimony affirmed on appeal where the oral agreement was offered to prove 

that the opposing party had entered a contract with appellant.) Based on 

available Washington case law, therefore, the trial court here did not err in 

excluding similar hearsay evidence that it perceived to be offered for the 

purpose of proving an agreement by the Hatfields to allow Mrs. Aenk to use 

the check as a second payment for the horses. The defendant has not 

established otherwise. The trial court did not err.  
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2. The Defendant was fully able to present her defense because she 

was able to testify, without objection or limitation by the court 

as to why she retained the check as a second payment, and 

therefore, any error in excluding the hearsay testimony was 

harmless. 

The defendant argues that the exclusion of this hearsay evidence 

prevented her from presenting a defense.  U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV; 

Wash. Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22; Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 302, 

93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973); State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 

230 P.3d 576 (2010).  However, the constitutional right to present a defense 

is not unfettered and a defendant does not have a right to introduce irrelevant 

or inadmissible evidence.  State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 786 n.6, 

147 P.3d 1201 (2006) overruled on other grounds by State v. W.R., 

181 Wn.2d 757, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014); State v. Stacy, 181 Wn. App. 553, 

566, 326 P.3d 136 (2014).  Even where a defendant alleges that the 

exclusion of proffered evidence denied her the right to present a defense, 

the trial court’s decision to exclude that evidence is reviewed for abuse of 

discretion. See, e.g., State v. Lord, 161 Wn.2d 276, 294, 165 P.3d 1251 

(2007) (“The right to present defense witnesses is not absolute…  A trial 

court’s decision to exclude evidence will be reversed only where the trial 

court has abused its discretion”).  As discussed above, the proffered hearsay 

testimony was not admissible as it did not satisfy any exemption from or 

exception to the hearsay rule. Thus, defendant was not entitled to have this 
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hearsay evidence admitted at trial, and the court did not deprive her of her 

right to present a defense. 

Even assuming that the testimony was both relevant and admissible, 

its exclusion was harmless.  Error is harmless if the court is convinced 

beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the 

same result without the error.  State v. Smith, 148 Wn.2d 122, 139, 

59 P.3d 74 (2002). Washington courts rule error harmless if the evidence 

admitted or excluded was merely cumulative. See State v. Flores, 

154 Wn.2d 1, 19, 186 P.3d 1038 (2008) quoting Dennis J. Sweeney, An 

Analysis of Harmless Error in Washington: A Principled Process, 

31 GONZ. L. REV. 277, 319 (1995). 

 The defendant contends that she “sought to introduce testimony that 

Dustin [Hatfield] told her to keep the check and to use it as the second 

payment for the adoption of Quinn and Baron.” Appellant’s Br. at 6. 

Contrary to her claim, however, the defendant was permitted to testify as to 

why she kept the check and to her belief that it was to be used as the payment 

for the third horse. Thus, the evidence excluded during Mr. Aenk’s 

testimony was merely cumulative, offered in an attempt to bolster 

Mrs. Aenk’s testimony. 
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 Mrs. Aenk gave the following testimony during direct examination: 

 Q. And did you give Mr. Hatfield the check? 

 

A. I tried to. 

 

Q. And did you ultimately end up keeping the check? 

 

A. Yes. 

 

Q. Okay. What was your understanding of why you were 

keeping the check? 

 

A. Because we were -- I can’t give hearsay. 

 

Q. No. I’m just asking you what your understanding was. 

 

A. My understanding of being allowed to keep the check was 

for the second payment for Barren.  

 

Q. Okay. And did you then intend at some point to negotiate 

that check for the contract for Barren? 

 

A. We didn’t try to negotiate it. 

 

RP 458. 

Q. And did you, at some point, go to ACE Cash Express? 

 

A. Yes. 

 

Q. All right. And why did you go there? 

 

A. I received a phone call. 

 

Q. A phone call from who? 

 

A. Mrs. Hatfield. 

 

MR. WALL: Okay. And Your Honor, I do think this 

is something that is not a statement. It is a question 
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that Ms. Hatfield asked my client so I don’t believe 

that that would be covered by the hearsay rule. 

 

THE COURT: So you do not believe this is being 

offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. 

 

MR. WALL: No matter asserted. It’s a question’s 

being asked; so she’s not - it’s not a statement. 

 

THE COURT: Okay. 

 

Q. (BY MR. WALL) Did Mrs. Hatfield ask you something 

in that phone call? 

 

A. Yes. 

 

Q. What did she ask you? 

 

A. Why haven’t we cashed the check yet. 

 

Q. Okay. And what did you tell her? 

 

A. I told her because we weren’t supposed to cash it until 

after Barren was delivered. 

 

Q. Okay. And then you said you went to ACE. 

 

A. Correct. 

 

Q. And what was your purpose in going to ACE? Why did 

you go there? What did you - 

 

A. Because I’m not allowed to say. 

 

Q. No, no. What did you intend to do when you got to ACE? 

 

A. I intended to verify the check. 

 

RP 459-460.  
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 Q. (BY MR. WALL) Can you read this text message for us? 

 

A. “In-box from Elle Hatfield: It has become evident that our 

professional relationship has degraded to the point we can 

no longer do business together since we have already paid 

you for Duke via a check in the amount of 500 and cash for 

Quinn and Barren in the amount of 2,500 plus transport fee 

of 100, and we just received a phone call that you are trying 

to cash the check that you forgot to return, and you continue 

to make things difficult for us. We choose to cans the 

contract and choose to -” goes on, sorry, “-- choose to cans 

the contract and look for horses elsewhere. We are 

requesting a full refund within 48 hours. The total refund 

amount is $3,100. We are fully prepared to take legal action 

and press criminal charges if necessary.” 

 

Q. (BY MR. WALL) Were you surprised to get this text? 

 

A. Yes. 

 

Q. Were you surprised that Ms. Hatfield was claiming that 

they had already paid for both Quinn and Duke (sic)? 

 

A. Yes. 

 

RP 476.  

 

 And, on cross examination, Mrs. Aenk testified: 

 

 Q. And it’s your testimony today that you -- she called you? 

 

 A. Correct. 

 

Q. And told you to cash that check? 

 

A. No. 

 

Q. What -- what did she tell you to do? 

 

A. That’s hearsay. 
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THE COURT: Ma’am, you’ve already testified to it 

without an objection. So you let the lawyers make the 

objections. I’ll rule on objections. Otherwise, just 

answer the question, please. 

 

A. Okay. She asked me why we have not cashed the check 

yet. 

 

RP 495. 

 

 During the defendant’s motion for a new trial, the trial court 

analyzed the same issue and found that the defendant was not prejudiced by 

his ruling excluding Mr. Aenk’s testimony regarding statements made by 

Mr. or Mrs. Hatfield, because Mrs. Aenk was able to testify, without 

objection, to the same facts. RP 626.  

Ms. Aenk was asked during her questioning, without 

objection by the state, without limitation by the Court,26 she 

testified that she tried to give Mr. Hatfield back his check but 

she ended up keeping it, and that her understanding was that 

she was keeping the check for the second payment for the 

third horse, for Barren. So she did testify to that, again, 

without objection. 

 

RP 621 (emphasis added).  

 

Now, even looking at it and looking at some of the things 

that are being argued today that may not have been 

articulated well during the hearing, Ms. Aenk still had an 

opportunity to say what she believed the Hatfields had told 

her, that “Keep the other check,” “It’s for the third horse,” 

                                                 
26  To the extent that Mrs. Aenk declined to answer questions that she believed called 

for hearsay testimony, where the State neither objected, nor the Court limited her 

testimony, any error would be invited error. See, e.g., RP 495.  The doctrine of invited error 

prohibits a party from setting up an error at trial and then complaining of it on appeal.  

Invited error precludes judicial review. See, e.g., State v. Boyer, 91 Wn.2d 342, 345, 

588 P.2d 1151 (1986).  
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“Why haven’t you cashed the other check?” It came in 

without objections. 

 

RP 625 (emphasis added).  

 

 The error alleged here did not contribute to the guilty verdicts that 

were obtained.  Mrs. Aenk was fully able to testify as to her understanding 

of the adoption agreements, and thus, Mrs. Aenk was able to present a 

defense.   The jury simply did not believe her testimony. Neither the court’s 

evidentiary rulings nor the court’s decision to deny the defendant’s motion 

for a new trial based on those evidentiary rulings were an abuse of 

discretion, and should not be disturbed on appeal.   

B. THE STATE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE THAT 

THE DEFENDANT COMMITTED THE CRIME OF THIRD 

DEGREE THEFT BY DECEPTION. 

Ms. Aenk challenges the sufficiency of the evidence supporting her 

conviction for third degree theft by deception. The purpose for sufficiency 

of the evidence review is “to guarantee the fundamental protection of due 

process of law.” Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 

61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979). The test for determining the sufficiency of the 

evidence is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable 

to the state, any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a 

reasonable doubt.” State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 

(1992).  When the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged in a criminal 

https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1979135171&pubNum=708&originatingDoc=I4c308b835f1411e196ddf76f9be2cc49&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1979135171&pubNum=708&originatingDoc=I4c308b835f1411e196ddf76f9be2cc49&refType=RP&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
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case, all reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of 

the state and interpreted most strongly against the defendant. Id.  A claim 

of insufficiency admits the truth of the State’s evidence and all inferences 

that reasonably can be drawn therefrom. Id.  In a sufficiency of the evidence 

challenge, the court is highly deferential to the decision of the jury. State v. 

Davis, 182 Wn.2d 222, 227, 340 P.3d 820 (2014). 

Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and are not subject 

to review on appeal. State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874, 83 P.3d 970 

(2004).  The appellate court must defer to the trier of fact on issues of 

conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses and the persuasiveness of the 

evidence.  Id.  

Our Supreme Court has stated: 

It is the province of the jury to weigh the evidence, under 

proper instructions, and determine the facts. It is the 

province of the jury to believe, or disbelieve, any witness 

whose testimony it is called upon to consider. If there is 

substantial evidence (as distinguished from a scintilla) on 

both sides of an issue, what the trial court believes after 

hearing the testimony, and what this court believes after 

reading the record, is immaterial. The finding of the jury, 

upon substantial, conflicting evidence properly submitted to 

it, is final. 

 

State v. Williams, 96 Wn.2d 215, 222, 634 P.2d 868 (1981); see, also, State 

v. Walton, 64 Wn. App. 410, 415-16, 824 P.2d 533, review denied, 

119 Wn.2d 1011 (1992) (the court defers to the jury’s determination 

regarding conflicting testimony, evaluation of witness credibility, and 

decisions regarding the persuasiveness of evidence). 
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 A person commits theft in the third degree by deception if he or she 

commits theft of property or services by deception, and the property does 

not exceed seven hundred and fifty dollars in value.  RCW 9A.56.050(1)(a). 

Theft by deception means by color or aid of deception to obtain control over 

the property or services of another or the value thereof, with intent to 

deprive him of such property or services.  RCW 9A.56.020(1)(b). “By color 

and aid of deception” means that the deception operated to bring about the 

obtaining of the property or services; it is not necessary that the deception 

be the sole means of obtaining the property or services. RCW 9A.56.010(4); 

CP 92. “Deception” occurs when an actor knowingly promises performance 

which the actor does not intend to perform or knows will not be 

performed.27  RCW 9A.56.010(5)(e); CP 93.  Defendant alleges on appeal 

that the element of “deception” was not proven beyond a reasonable doubt 

at trial.  Appellant’s Br. at 8-9.  

 A defendant’s intent to deprive at the time the property was taken 

may be inferred from acts occurring subsequent to the commission of the 

alleged crime. See, e.g., U.S. v. Latney, 108 F.3d 1446, 1449-50 

(D.C. Cir. 1997) (“[L]ater acts are most likely to show the accused’s intent 

                                                 
27  “Deception” may occur in other ways, but here the State alleged that it occurred 

as provided in RCW 9A.56.010(5)(e).  
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when ‘they are fairly recent and in some significant way connected with 

prior material events”). 

 The State argued below that the “deception” began when 

Mrs. Hatfield wrote Mrs. Aenk a check for Duke because Mrs. Aenk never 

intended to give the Hatfields any of the horses, RP 570, that Mrs. Aenk’s 

conduct and promises were a “scam from the beginning,” RP 571, and that 

this “was a masked theft via … contract[s] … contracts that the Hatfields 

never even got.” RP 585. The State presented sufficient evidence, both 

direct and circumstantial, that Mrs. Aenk knowingly promised to perform a 

contract, i.e., the adoption of Duke, which she did not intend to perform, or 

knew would not be performed.   

First, Mrs. Aenk pressured Mrs. Hatfield to make a quick adoption 

of Duke; during the initial telephone call, Mrs. Aenk claimed that she had 

other people interested in Duke, and when Mrs. Hatfield and her daughter 

went to look at Duke the next day, Mrs. Aenk claimed that there had been 

another woman who looked at the horse earlier that day, and another was 

coming later in the day.  RP 129, 132. She also ingratiated herself to 

Mrs. Hatfield, during the initial telephone conversation, by talking to her 

for an hour and a half to two hours during their initial visit, RP 137, and 

then by becoming very friendly with her by Mrs. Hatfield’s second visit, 

“wanting to be [her] friend,” and “talk about [their] lives.” RP 139. Both of 
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these tactics, i.e., high pressure sales and gaining the trust of fraud targets 

are commonly associated with fraud schemes targeting the unwary. This 

behavior is circumstantial evidence from which the jury could infer 

Ms. Aenk’s ill-intent.  

Secondly, Mrs. Aenk failed to deliver the horses as promised when 

the fence was complete, even though she acknowledged the fence was 

complete and in good condition.  RP 132, 134-135, 155-156, 232-233. The 

Aenks provided multiple excuses for not delivering the horses as promised: 

the fence was torn down, RP 429; they had too many things going on and 

could not deliver for one and a half to two weeks, RP 157, 234; they had 

appointments and were unable to meet the Hatfields at their farm, Ex. 13; 

they did not want to deliver the horses late in the day for fear that the horses 

would not adjust well to their new home, RP 233; because it was haying 

season, the Aenks were too busy on their tractors to accommodate delivery 

or pick up of the horses, Ex. 13; and Mrs. Hatfield’s attitude posed a “hostile 

environment” for the horses and Mrs. Aenk feared for their safety in her 

care, RP 235; Ex. 13. This litany of empty excuses is evidence from which 

the jury could infer that Mrs. Aenk never intended to deliver any of the 

horses, including Duke. See, e.g. State v. Manion, 112 A.3d 506, 521 

(Md. 2015) (“The trial court, after viewing the entirety of the evidence and 

weighing the credibility of the witnesses, could have reasonably determined 
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that Manion’s “lies” and excuses, which the court characterized as “too 

numerous to name,” supported, in part, a reasonable inference of his 

criminal intent”). 

Mrs. Aenk’s fraudulent scheme was to induce the adoption of the 

animals, require a “nonrefundable” payment by check made out to her 

personally, and then find fault in the property upon which the animals were 

to be housed, and continually change the terms of the agreement, so as not 

to have to perform delivery of the horses, but be able to retain the 

“nonrefundable” adoption fee.   

Certainly the issue of the missing original contracts weighed 

heavily28 against Mrs. Aenk, especially given Mrs. Aenk’s testimony that 

she is a meticulous record keeper. RP 440, 447. It makes no sense that 

Mrs. Aenk, who had allegedly operated Shepherd’s Way for ten years,

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